0. a. 9 - 4 - 90

FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUN 8 1990

SID J. WHITE

BLERK, SUPREME COLLER

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs .

Case No. 75,161

FREDERICK ALDINE BAIRD, JR.,

Respondent.

On Discretionary Review From the District Court of Appeal, First District of Florida

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD E. DORAN DIRECTOR, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0325104

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Frederick A. Baird, Jr., was charged by information on January 8, 1987, with forty-three counts of racketeering and bookmaking offenses pursuant to g895.03, Fla. Stat., and §849.25, Fla. Stat. (R 1185). Subsequently the State of Florida filed a third amended information, (R 1217-1225), charging Baird with racketeering offenses.

Baird was tried by jury in the First Judicial Circuit of Florida beginning on August 7, 1987. On August 21, 1987, the jury returned verdicts of guilty on all three counts as charged in the information. After denial of his motion for judgment of acquittal and arrest of judgment, (R 1504, 1512), the trial court sentenced Baird on November 18, 1987, to seven years in the state prison to be followed by five years probation.

Baird filed a timely appeal in the First District Court of Appeal and raised eight issues. The district court of appeal rejected seven of the eight arguments', but reversed on a finding that the trial court had allowed the admission of inadmissible

¹ In its original opinion, the district court certified as a question of great importance the so-called "pen-register" issue outlined in <u>Shaktman v. State</u>, 529 So.2d 711 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), *approved*, 553 So.2d, 148 (Fla. 1989). Based upon the State's notification of this Court's decision in <u>Shaktman</u>, the district court subsequently issued a revised opinion which omitted the certified question.

hearsay and that it could not be said that the error was harmless. <u>Baird v. State</u>, 553 So.2d 187 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989). The State's timely motion for rehearing was denied.

The State timely filed its notice to invoke the jurisdiction of this Court and the Court accepted jurisdiction by a vote of 4-3. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

After four days of reviewing and weighing the testimony and evidence and listening to the arguments from counsel, the jury in this case took only one hour and fifty minutes to convict the Respondent, Frederick A. Baird, Jr., on all counts as charged. (R 1171-1172).

The jury heard Joseph Nunnari and Douglas Vickery, Respondent's convicted **co-defendants**,² paint a detailed picture of Respondent's role as a major gambling financier in the Pensacola, Florida, area. Their testimony outlined a sophisticated and widespread football gambling operation that existed for many years.

The jury heard Joseph Nunnari testify that he had worked for the Respondent collecting on football bets on Baird's behalf from 1982 through 1986. (R 194). Under their arrangement, Nunnari received ten percent of the profits gained from the gambling operation every year. (R 195). Respondent's role in the operation was financier; he gave Nunnari a list of names which included "Bob", a code name for Mr. Vickery. (R 196-97).

- 4 -

² Vickery and Nunnari pled no contest and reserved the right to appeal the question of the constitutionality of the racketeering statute. Their appeal was denied by the First District Court of Appeal in the decision reported as <u>Vickery and Nunnari v. State</u>, 539 So.2d 499 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989).

Nunnari knew Vickery and also Dickey Merritt prior to working for Baird because he had bet with them for the prior two years. (R 197).

According to Nunnari, he had between 10 and 15 bettors that used him as their "bookie." If he brought new clients to Baird's operation, he got a special rate in return for the new business. He also told the jury that prior to his taking on the role as debt collector for Baird, Merritt and Bruce Athey handled that responsibility. (R 197-98).

Nunnari and Vickery used telephone numbers 932-6860 and 479-9676 to conduct their gambling business. The state's prosecutor played portions of tapes recorded by FDLE agents during Nunnari's testimony, During the playing of these tapes, the prosecutor would periodically stop them to allow Nunnari to clarify points such as indicating when "somebody was mentioned who that somebody was." (R 199-223). Nunnari told the jury that the business grew from year to year and that at one point they had between 50 and 60 callers each of whom had others betting with them. Thus, for every caller tied in with Nunnari (and therefore Baird), there might be 5 to 20 other bettors involved in the gambling ring. (R 223). Indeed, the organization was sophisticated enough that Vickery and Nunnari were the "exposed" figures who protected Baird from any tie-in with the operation.

- 5 -

Nunnari said that Baird claimed he had sources who would let him know if anything was going on in terms of law enforcement or tax investigation. (R 241-243).

្វ

¥."

Nunnari also detailed for the jury how often and how much he was paid by Baird and how they operated various details of the betting organization. (R 247-264).

Interspersed with Nunnari's testimony were tape recordings of conversations involving this gambling operation. (R 264-268; 269-277; and 279-300). According to Nunnari, the "other man" mentioned in the tapes was Baird. (R 304 and 308). Nunnari concluded the direct examination portion of his testimony by telling the jury that after his arrest he freely confessed to the police and was testifying pursuant to a plea agreement. (R 310-314).

On cross-examination, defense counsel brought out that Baird had told Nunnari that he was getting out of the bookmaking business. It was also revealed during cross-examination that Nunnari and Vickery called each other on a phone number (932-6860) that was listed in Baird's name and located in a condominium owned by Baird. (R 341).

On redirect, the prosecutor played a tape recording which Nunnari identified as a discussion between himself and Baird

- 6 -

where they discussed a bet over the phone. (R 381). The prosecutor then played another tape wherein Nunnari and the Respondent talked but there was an indication that it was not secure for them to discuss business over the phone. (R 381-386).

Douglas Vickery testified during the latter portion of the trial. (R 611). He told the jury that he received bets on behalf of Respondent and Respondent's "bookie operation." (R 611). Vickery told the jury that in 1984 he received \$30,000 directly from Baird at Baird's office in payment for his work in the gambling operation. (R 612-625). He also told the jury that in 1985, Joseph Nunnari gave him \$19,000 and Baird gave him an additional \$7,000 or \$8,000. Vickery indicated that he picked up the money from Baird at Baird's office although Baird was not there at the time. (R 626).

Vickery also told the jury that he borrowed \$4,000 from Baird in 1986 on an oral contract. The loan was to be repaid from any football monies accumulated by Vickery on Baird's behalf. (R 628).

Vickery also told the jury that Baird had agreed to provide an attorney to Vickery if he were ever arrested in conjunction with the gambling operation. (R 629).

- 7 -

The prosecutor played a variety of taped recordings involving Vickery and Nunnari for the jury during Vickery's testimony. Vickery clarified various references made in the tapes and indicated to the jury that part of the conversation involved Baird's making side bets and otherwise being involved in the betting operation. (R 634-666).

Vickery concluded his direct testimony by indicating that the state attorney had made a recommendation as part of a plea agreement but that he had no deals with the prosecutor. (R 671).

Vickery's ex-wife, Laurie Taylor, also testified. (R 481). She told the jury that Doug Vickery applied for a job in the bookmaking business with Dean Baird and that Baird and Vickery agreed that Vickery would receive twenty percent of the profits he brought into the operation. (R 484). She also testified that she observed Baird pay Doug the \$30,000 in Baird's office. (R 488).

The prosecution also presented testimony from two law enforcement officers, Charles Griffith and Larry Sams. Griffith testified that he was an agent of the Florida Department of Law Enforcement ("FDLE") and that, based upon information known to the FDLE, an effort was made to infiltrate the gambling organization, (R 60-62). Griffith detailed for the jury how he and Sams obtained phone numbers used for gambling and then

- 8 -

proceeded to obtain information by use of the "pen register" technique to trace the phones. (R 63-65). The officers were also able to obtain wiretaps to review gambling information, (R 67), including taps for Joseph Nunnari's home phone, 479-9676, and Respondent Baird's condominium, 932-6860. (R 65-68).

2

Recordings made from conversations overheard pursuant to the wiretap were introduced as State's Exhibits 1-3. (R 69-71). Additionally, the State introduced Exhibits 4, 5 and 6 which were extracts from calls from those three wiretapped numbers. (R 73).

The prosecution also presented testimony from FDLE Agent Frank Troy who had special training in gambling techniques. (R 118). Troy explained how money flowed through bookmaking operations and explained different terms that were germane to the operation, such as "vigorous gain" and "lay off." (R 128-135). Troy also testified that it was normal in this type of gambling operation to distance the financial backer from the actual operatives to provide him with protection. (R 144).

Agent Sams testified that he was the agent responsible for infiltrating the gambling operation at Sir Richard's Lounge in Pensacola, Florida. (R 144-147). On his first visit, he saw many people entering and leaving Sir Richard's Lounge, a bar, without drinking any alcohol. (R 147). Me also noted that the manager, Dickie Merritt, would take bets. After a two week period, Merritt allowed Sams to place a bet with him. (R 147).

- 9 -

One weekend Merritt was going to be out of town; so at Sams' request, Merritt gave Sams a phone number and a "code number" (2-A-10) to use instead of a name. The phone number was 478-6637. It was later changed to 932-7752. (R 148-49). Sams then placed bets with Vickery whose code name was "Bob," (R 149).

_ 2

Sams met Joseph Nunnari at Sir Richard's when Nunnari arrived to pay a gambling debt. (R 150). According to Sams, Nunnari indicated that bets could be placed with Merritt, Vickery by phone, or directly with Nunnari. (R 150-153).

During this portion of Sams testimony, the prosecution introduced and played tapes involving conversations between Vickery and Agent Sams wherein bets were placed by Sams. (R 154-158). Sams then testified that Nunnari gave him a new code number (# 116) and Sams quit betting through Merritt and began betting directly with Nunnari. (R 158-159).

Ultimately, Sams met Nunnari at Jerry's Drive-In to settle his betting debts. (R 161). Sams paid Nunnari and then placed him under arrest. He then took Nunnari to the federal courthouse where he began cooperating with the police. (R 161).

At the conclusion of Sams' testimony, the State recalled Agent Griffith to verify the voices on the previously played tapes as Vickery and Nunnari. (R 189-190).

- 10 -

The prosecution also presented testimony from a variety of bettors which indicated further ties between Nunnari, Merritt, Vickery and Respondent Baird. These witnesses included Mike Shuttleworth (R 401-404), Robert Athey (R 407-417), Clark Merritt (R 424-445), Richard Merritt (R 446-458), Art McGraw (R 467-470), and Rocky Jones (R 470-479). The State also produced testimony from William Lee who indicated that he had bet with Respondent Baird for five years. (R 518-519). The jury also heard testimony from State witness Harlan Jennings, Baird's limousine driver, who indicated that he had bet with Baird and once saw Baird give cash to Joseph Nunnari some time in 1983. (R 830-33).

The defense presented no testimony.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

. 3

It is the Petitioner's contention that the First District Court of Appeal erred in two respects when it reversed the judgment and sentence in this case. First, the district court plainly misapplied the prohibition against the admission of hearsay evidence. The trial court allowed a State witness to respond regarding what he had heard so as to refute the defense's assertion that the witness had targeted Baird for prosecution out of bad faith or vindictiveness. Every major treatise on evidence supports the trial court's determination that the evidence was not hearsay and a number of decisions from Florida and federal courts support the State's position in this regard. This is especially true where the defense "opened the door" to the question during its opening statement wherein it accused the police of bad faith.

Secondly, any error should have been found harmless under the rule of <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986), and <u>State v. Ciccarelli</u>, 531 So.2d 129 (Fla. 1988). Rather than adhere to the standards set forth in these cases, the First District Court of Appeal, held that the State had failed to carry its burden of proving harmlessness of the error. That holding is wholly inconsistent with harmless error review and should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

» °

ISSUE I

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN REVERSING THE TRIAL COURT'S DETERMINATION THAT REMARKS OF A WITNESS DID NOT CONSTITUTE HEARSAY GIVEN THE CONTEXT IN WHICH THEY WERE UTTERED.

The theory of the defense at trial was that Mr. Baird, due to his flamboyant life-style, became known to agents of the Florida Department of Law Enforcement who, for personal reasons (career enhancement), singled him out for prosecution. (R 39-43). In presenting this theory to the jury, defense counsel told them that Agent Sams had heard about Baird's gambling activities, stating:

First of all, I think the evidence will show that they selected the man, Dean Baird, sitting over there, maybe a year before that, they also selected the offense, racketeering, to charge him with. (R 39).

*

Mr. Baird undoubtedly is flamboyant. The testimony is going to show that. He likes to gamble. He has gambled, and I think the evidence will show that he goes to Vegas, that he bets on football games, and that years ago, in fact, he did bet and book football like some of these other people.

*

And Mr. Edgar would have you think that millions of dollars were going back and

forth, but I think the evidence is going to show many things, hardly any money passed, because half the people in Sir Richard's bet one way and half bet the other way. So little money passed.

But in any event, Mr. Baird was flamboyant. He himself went through a divorce in **1981**, a divorce from his wife, Bonnie Baird. And as result of that, he got out of gambling completely. He got scared of it. He didn't need to gamble. He gambled because he had a lot of money. He gambled because he enjoyed it, because it was exciting. But he decided to get out of gambling because his wife, as many times do when you go through depositions, people say angry things, and apparently some testimony came out that he had a lot of cash from gambling, and he told people he was getting out of it. (R 41-42).

Accordingly, based on this version of the facts, defense counsel summed up his opening statement with this request for acquittal:

> I think after you have heard all the evidence in this case, that you are going to find, as I indicated to you from the start, they selected Mr. Baird to prosecute, and they selected the offense of racketeering, and after you have heard all the evidence in this case, I'm going to ask you to find him not guilty based upon justice and the evidence that is presented. Thank you.

(R **43).**

Shortly after these arguments were concluded, the State began the evidentiary portion of its case. With defense counsel's rhetoric

ringing in their ears, the jury then heard the following exchange between the prosecutor and Agent Griffith:

- Q: (By Mr. Edgar) It was just a number to you?
- A: Yes, sir.
- Q: Now, sir, in this particular case, there has been some question came [sic] up about targeting this defendant and it was just selecting him out of all these people to prosecute him. Would you explain to the members of the jury whether or not the defendant was picked on or targeted in this case.
- A: I'm not sure. I understand the word "targeting". I have received information that he was involved in the major
- MR. BEROSET: Objection, hearsay.
- THE COURT: Overruled.
- MR. BEROSET: Move for mistrial, Your Honor.
- THE COURT: Denied.
- THE WITNESS: I had received information that he was a major gambler and operating a major gambling operation in the Pensacola area
- (**R** 77).

Defense counsel again objected to these remarks but the trial court overruled the objection noting the opening statement by defense counsel. (R 78).

Clearly, the State presented the testimony about what Officer Griffith had heard from someone else not for the truth of the matter (that Baird was a gambler) but rather to refute a defense assertion that the officer was motivated by greed or vindictiveness and that he had pre-selected Baird for prosecution. The prosecution was not asking the jury to accept this testimony as proof that Baird was a gambler. Rather, the testimony was directed to "why" Griffith acted not "what" Baird was alleged to be.

In Johnson v. State, 456 So.2d 529, 530 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), review denied, 464 So.2d 555 (Fla. 1984), and Freeman v. State, 494 So.2d 270, 271 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986), the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that an investigating officer's testimony as to the content of a dispatch to which he responded was admissible to explain why the officers were at a particular place at a particular time and what their purpose was. The Fourth District cited <u>United States v. Walling</u>, 486 F.2d 229, 234 (9th Cir. 1973), in support of its position.

The Fourth District's position is advanced by Professor Ehrhardt in his treatise on <u>Florida Evidence</u>. In Chapter 8, he concludes:

> An out-of-court statement which is not offered to prove the truth of the matters asserted, i.e. to prove that the

facts contained in it are true, is not hearsay.

In support of this position, Ehrhardt cites <u>Breedlove v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 1, 6 (Fla. 1982), and <u>Brown v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>State</u> <u>v. Lofton</u>, 418 So.2d 1259 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982)(See appendix).

Fourth District cited <u>Wigmore on Evidence</u> for the proposition that "if an extrajudicial utterance is offered, not as an assertion to evidence the matter asserted, the hearsay rules do not apply." Id. at **38**.

The First District relied on <u>Bauer v. State</u>, 528 So.2d 6 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988), to support its reversal. <u>Bauer</u> was a split decision which Chief Judge Campbell vigorously dissented from the majority's reversal of a drug trafficking conviction. The <u>Bauer</u> majority held a police officer could not testify to information he received from a confidential informant regarding defendant's alleged prior criminal activities in order to rebut a defense of entrapment because such testimony would be hearsay.

In his dissent, Chief Judge Campbell forcefully points out:

The very definition of "hearsay" is that it is a statement other than one by the declarant, offered to prove the truth of the matters asserted. Section **90.801** (1)(c), Fla. Stat. (1985). The testimony of Agent Chouinard as to what the informant informed him that created Agent Chouinard's reasonable suspicion, was therefore, not hearsay. As the trial judge below held in allowing the testimony; the state has the right to show that Mr. Scaglione and Mr. Bauer were not randomly selected or exposed, and I will allow the state to ask Mr. Chouinard as to why he sought introduction to Mr. Scaglione and Mr. Bauer concerning the proffer, also, the other cases show that a confidential informant and hearsay may be utilized to show predisposition.

Bauer, supra, at 12-13.

In the instant case, the First District commits the same error as the majority in <u>Bauer</u>. Officer Griffith's testimony was not introduced to prove the truth of the matter asserted, i.e., that Baird was a major gambler. Rather, that testimony was introduced to show why Officer Griffith began his investigation of Baird and to rebut the defense's argument that the police had targeted or selected Baird for prosecution. In United States v. <u>Makhlouta</u>, 790 F.2d 1400 (9th Cir. 1986), the court made the following finding:

Mahklouta argues that the district judge improperly admitted hearsay testimony when he permitted Miller to testify, over objection, that he first met Makhlouta after an informant, Khawan, told Miller that Makhlouta and an associate were looking for a buyer of large quantities of cocaine. The district judge correctly determined that Khawan's statement was not hearsay because it was offered not to prove the truth of the matter asserted but rather to show Miller's state of mind when he began investigating Makhlouta. See Fed.R.Evid, 801(c); McCormick's Handbook of the Law on *Evidence* §249, at 733-34 (3d ed. 1984)

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