A 9-4.90

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs .

FREDERICK ALDINE BAIRD, JR.,

Respondent.

JUE - 63 M.E.T. Des \mathbb{C}^{\prime}

CASE NO. 75,161

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LAURA E. KEENE Beroset & Keene 417 East Zaragoza Street Pensacola, Florida 32501 Phone: (904) 438-3111 Florida Bar No. 312835 Attorney for Respondent

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

In the case presently before the Court Petitioner asserts that the testimony was introduced to show why GRIFFITH began his investigation of Respondent and to rebut Respondent's the police had selected Respondent arqument that for prosecution. The testimony was not introduced to show why an investigation was begun, nor was it necessary to show a logical sequence of events as mentioned in Harris v. State, supra. To the contrary, the information was elicited in an effort to show that Respondent was involved in criminal activity prior to the initiation of GRIFFITH's investigation and that Respondent was in fact "a major gambler" as stated in GRIFFITH's testimony. The First District correctly followed the Second District's lead as stated in Bauer v. State, 528 So.2d 6 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1988). See also Haynes v. State, 502 So.2d 507 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) wherein the First District held that the comment of the nontestifying confidential informant presented at trial by a police officer constituted evidence of the Defendant's guilt, and also Davis v. State, 493 So.2d 11 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1986) wherein the Court held that the inescapable inference from the testimony presented was that a nontestifying witness had furnished evidence of guilt to the police which lead the police directly to the Defendant.

Petitioner's assertion that <u>Baird v. State</u>, supra, and <u>Bauer v. State</u>, supra, create separate and distinctive evidentiary rules for the parties in a criminal case is incorrect. In the First District Court of Appeal, a criminal Defendant may introduce evidence of what was said to explain his state of mind when he propounds the defense of entrapment, not when he is making allegations of "police misconduct" as asserted in Petitioner's Brief at page 23. Similarly, <u>Baird</u> <u>v. State</u>, supra, does not hold that the State is precluded from introducing similar evidence to refute allegations of police misconduct. Rather, <u>Baird</u> simply holds that hearsay testimony is inadmissable for the obvious purpose of proving the truth of the matter asserted by corroborating a witness's testimony where there has been no charge of improper influence, motive, or recent fabrication. See also <u>Adams v.</u> <u>State</u> 15 FLW D930 (April 20, 1990), <u>Ralston v. State</u>, 555 So.2d **443** (Fla. 4th DCA 1990).

Petitioner asserts that Respondent initiated a claim of selective prosecution by law enforcement of Respondent and that Petitioner was therefore entitled to present the hearsay statement of GRIFFITH as appropriate rebuttal. Petitioner then asserts that although an officer's state of mind is not normally relevant in a criminal prosecution, Respondent made GRIFFITH's state of mind an issue by raising a claim of selective prosecution, giving the State an "open door" to respond regarding GRIFFITH's motivation for the case. Petitioner cites <u>Crumley v. State</u>, **534** So.2d 909 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) in support of its position. In <u>Crumley</u>, the First District ruled that testimony from the Defendant regarding an informant's out of court statements to the Defendant inducing

the Defendant to engage in a narcotics sale was admissable as it was not offered to proof the truth of the informant's statements but rather the statement's effect on the Defendant. <u>Crumley</u>, supra, is distinguishable by the fact that the defense of entrapment necessarily makes the state of mind of the accused a relevant issue. The state of mind of GRIFFITH is not a relevant issue.

Petitioner complains of essentially three comments made by counsel for Respondent during opening argument, and offers those comments as justification for the hearsay statements of GRIFFITH that were admitted by the trial Court. First, counsel for Respondent stated "first of all, I think the evidence will show that they selected the man, Dean Baird, sitting over there, maybe a year before that, they also selected the offense, racketeering to charge him with". (R-39) Second, that counsel for Respondent stated that Respondent was "flamboyant", (R-41, 42) And third, that counsel for Respondent stated "...they selected Mr. Baird to prosecute, and they selected the offense of racketeering, and after you have heard all the evidence in this case, I am going to ask you to find him not guilty..." (R-43) Petitioner asserts that these three statements "opened the door" to the State's solicitation of inadmissable hearsay from a police officer that was tantamount to the officer telling the jury that Respondent was quilty of the offenses charged. GRIFFITH's statement that Respondent was operating a major

gambling operation can hardly be considered "invited response" to the statement that Respondent is flamboyant as one would appear to have nothing to do with the other. As to the two statements made by Respondent's counsel concerning the State selecting Respondent for prosecution and selecting the charge of racketeering, these comments were isolated comments during an opening statement that ran for several minutes and generally focused on factual issues surrounding the evidence rather than the motivation of either the State or the Defendant. (R-39 through 60)

In Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978) this Court stated that no err occurred when defense counsel comments on or elicits testimony concerning a Defendant's exercise of his right to remain silent and that Defendant may not make or invite improper comment and later seek reversal based on that The Clark court admonished that a Defendant could comment. use a prophylactic rule designed to obviate the not possibility of conviction by the improper inference that a Defendant's silence evidenced guilt to set up an automatic reversal. As repeated by this Court in Brown v. State, 367 So,2d 616 (Fla. 1979) the rule concerning fair comment was not designed to serve Defendants as a "no lose" trial tactic. The case at bar is dissimilar. First, the comments made by the Respondent were essentially innocuous. counsel for Second, were such comments to be taken by Petitioner as serious enough to require a response, the officer simply could

have responded that he in fact had not selected Respondent for prosecution. Finally, under no circumstances can the hearsay testimony presented by the officer be considered "fair response'' even if counsel for Respondent's statement could be interpreted as inviting a response. GRIFFITH's testimony was nonresponsive overkill.

The Second District in Wise v. State, 546 So.2d 1068 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1989) discussed the admissability of hearsay testimony after reference was made in defense counsel's opening statement. The Court noted that defense counsel's opening statement clearly indicated that he intended to attack the credibility of a child witness. The child's mother was then allowed over objection to disclose a prior consistent statement made by the child to the mother. The Second District reversed because the prior consistent statement was presented at a point in the trial when there was no evidence of a prior inconsistent statement or that the witness denied making such statements. The State presented the child's out of court statements through the testimony of her mother before defense counsel had an opportunity to cross-examine the child or impeach her credibility. The general rule against prior consistent statements was, therefore, applicable.

The <u>Wise</u> court further noted that the manner in which the Defendant's alleged misconduct was discovered was not disputed or relevant to establishing any of the charges. Even if the circumstances were relevant to prove the Defendant's guilt,

they could have been established without presenting the contents of the conversation in question. Similarly, the manner in which Respondent's alleged misconduct was discovered was not disputed or relevant to establishing any of the charges against him. Finally, assuming arguendo, that the statement by GRIFFITH was a nonhearsay statement, it would be inadmissable as it does not tend to proof or disproof a material fact. Wise, supra.

Respondent urges this Court to affirm th ruling of the First District Court of Appeal on the basis that the statement made by GRIFFITH was clearly hearsay and inadmissable because it failed to meet some recognized exception to the hearsay rule. THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL PROPERLY APPLIED THE HARMLESS ERROR DOCTRINE SET FORTH BY THIS COURT IN DIGUILIO V. STATE, 491 SQ.2D 1129 (FLA. 1986) AND <u>CICCARELLI V. STATE</u>, 531 SQ.2D 129 (FLA. 1988)(RESTATED).

In <u>Baird v. State</u>, supra, the First District held that GRIFFITH's testimony was obviously hearsay and improperly admitted. Moreover, the First District concluded that the State had failed to carry its burden of showing the error was harmless. Therefore, the Court found it necessary to reverse Respondent's conviction and remand this matter for a new trial. The First District cited <u>State v. Diguilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986) in holding that the err was not harmless.

Petitioner now complains that the First District, in holding that the State must prove the err harmless, is in direct and express conflict with this Court's opinion in <u>Ciccarelli v. State</u>, 531 So.2d 129 (Fla. 1988). However, the First District applied both <u>Diguilio</u> and <u>Ciccarelli</u> in determining that this was not a case of harmless error and that reversal and remand of this matter was necessary.

Pursuant to <u>Diguilio</u>, supra, the harmless error test places the burden upon the State, as the beneficiary of the error, to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict. <u>Diguilio</u> at 1135. Further, this Court noted that oftentimes the analysis

requires "more than a mere totaling of testimony, and, in most instances, more than a mere reading of a portion of the record in the abstract." <u>Ciccarelli</u> at 132. The Court went on to note:

> "This is not to say that every case will require a reading of every word in a trial We can envision certain transcript. errors, such as improper leading questions of totally or admission irrelevant matters, that would not require such a demanding task. The decision of how much to read in order to apply the harmless error test 'vigorously' and appropriately must be left to the conscience of each individual judge." Ciccarelli at 132. (emphasis added)

P titioner asserts that the District Court erred in not finding GRIFFITH's statements to be harmless error as said statements were allegedly cumulative of other trial evidence. In this Court's most recent discussion of the harmless error rule, <u>State v. Lee</u>, 531 So.2d 133 (Fla. 1988), this Court held that the Defendant was entitled to a new trial even though properly admitted evidence was sufficient to support a jury verdict of guilty where the Court could not say beyond a reasonable doubt that the erroneously admitted evidence of a collateral crime did not affect the verdict. The <u>Lee</u> court reaffirmed that the focus of any harmless error analysis must the effect of the error on the trier of fact and not whether or not the permissible evidence of guilt is overwhelming ever if not conclusive.

Following the analysis in Lee, supra, the First District Court of Appeal in Bradley v. State, 540 So.2d 445 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) reversed the Defendant's sexual assault conviction. The First District wrote that admission of testimony concerning the portion of a health history form indicating the victim told a clinic staff member that she had previously been raped was a prejudicial statement that likely affected the result in the case. The information was entered on a medical form and testified to by a medical authority which made it likely that the statement was imbued with an authoritative conclusiveness that was inappropriate, according to the Court. Although the Court noted that the jury may well have come to the same conclusion without admission of the statement in a case which would have depended primarily on the jury's assessment of the witness's credibility the erroneous admission of the "raped" statement injuriously affected the Defendant's substantial right to a fair trial. In the case at Bar, the complained of statement was presented by the first witness in the State's case in chief, which witness was an officer of the law. After testifying to a number of matters seemingly unrelated to Respondent, GRIFFITH made his statement that he had received information that Respondent was running a major gambling operation in Pensacola. GRIFFITH's statement served to set the stage for the reception of all future testimony in the case, and it cannot be said that this testimony did not influence the jury in its deliberations.

In <u>Avila v. State</u>, 545 So.2d 450 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989) the Third District Court of Appeal reversed the Defendant's conviction for first degree murder, rejecting the State's suggestion that the error involved was harmless. The testimony in question consisted of a videotaped confession. The Court noted "given the inconsistencies in the testimony of the State's key witnesses, certain recantations of earlier testimony, and a dearth of physical evidence linking Avila to the murder scene, the jury's viewing of Avila's videotaped confession may well have erased any reasonable doubt previously entertained". Avila at 451.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal in Harris v. State, supra, found that statements made by a juvenile confidential informant to an officer were inadmissable hearsay and the error could not have been cured by an instruction and was not harmless. Similarly, in Bauer v. State, supra, the Court held that the State's presentation of the hearsay evidence of the agent involved was crucial to the State's ability to rebut the Defendant's defense of entrapment and was therefore not harmless error. In Haynes v. State, supra, citing Postell v. State, supra, the Court found the comment of a nontestifying confidential informant to constitute evidence of the Defendant's quilt which was not harmless error. Likewise, in Adams v. State, supra, the First District again reversed, finding that the error was not harmless where the testimony was offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted by

corroborating other witnesses testimony and further because it suggested the Defendant's involvement in another crime. The Court found that as a result it could not conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not affect the jury's verdict.

In the case at bar, there were repeated inconsistencies between the testimony of NUNNERI and VICKERY as well as other Additionally, although the State key State witnesses. introduced substantial physical evidence concerning pen registers, wire taps, photographs, charts, and tape recorded conversations between various parties, virtually none of this information had any direct link to Respondent. To the contrary, it chronicled consistent ongoing criminal activity between NUNNERI and VICKERY, who subsequently pointed the finger at Respondent. Several witnesses testified that Respondent had indicated to them in the early 1980's that he was getting out of gambling. (R-238, 416, 435, 458, 677, 678) Further, NUNNERI told several other people that Respondent was not involved (R-32) and it was clear that it would be to NUNNERI's advantage to let VICKERY think that he had a partner. (R-324) Finally, upon arrest NUNNERI initially may have named AXLEY as the person involved rather than Respondent, (R-331, 332) and VICKERY made no statement implicating Respondent until after he made inquiry as to whether or not Respondent would retain an attorney for him and was apparently told no. Given the fact that the credibility

of NUNNERI and VICKERY was crucial to Respondent's conviction, as they were the only two witnesses able to directly implicate Respondent, GRIFFITH's statement cannot be considered harmless. The unnamed accuser in absentia referred to by GRIFFITH in his testimony who was not subject to crossexamination could very well have presented the reasonable doubt turning point for the jury. Based on the foregoing arguments and citations of authority, Respondent respectfully requests tha the decision of the First District be affirmed.

TATIDA P VEENE

Beroset & Keene 417 East Zaragoza Street Pensacola, Florida 32501 Phone: (904) 438-3111 Florida Bar No. 312835 Attorney for Respondent